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This is an appeal filed under the formal procedure pursuant
to G.L. c. 582, § 7 and G.L. c. 52C, § 39 from the refusal of the
Commissioner of Revenue (“aﬁpellee” or “Commissioner”} to grant an
abatement of personal income tax, interest, and penalty assessed
to Thomas R. Kennedy (“appellant”) for tax years ended December
31, 2010, December 31, 2011, and December 31, 2012z (“tax years at
issue”™).

Commissioner Scharaffa heard this appeal. Chalrman Hammond
and Commissioners Rose, Chmielinski, and Good Joined him in a
decision for the appel;ee. |

These findings of fact and report are made pursuant to a
request by the appellant under G.L. <. 58A, § 13 and 831 CMR 1.32.

Judith G. Edington, Esg. and David J. Nagle, Esg. for the
appelliant.

Celine E. de la Foscade-Condon, Esg. and Julie A. Flynn, Esqg.
for the appellee. - ‘
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FINDINGS OF FACT AND REPORT

On the basis of a Statement of Agreed Facts and the testimony
and exhibits offered into evidence at the hearing of this appeal,
the Appellate Tax Board (“Board”) made the following findings of
fact.

On October 14, 2011, the appellant filed a 2010 Massachusetts
Form l—Nonresident/Part—Year Resident Income Tax Refurn (“Form 1-
NR/PY”) as a resident from January-l, 2010 to June 1, 2010 and a
nonresident from June 2, 2010 tQ December 31, 2010. Oﬁ October 9,
2012, the appellant filed a 2011 Massachusetts Form 1-NR/PY, and
on OCﬁober 11, 2013, the appellant filed é 2012 Massachusetts Form
1-NR/PY. The appellant’s filing status for the tax years at issue
was “Married filing separate return.”

After an audit, the Massachusetts Department of Revenue Audit
Division advised the appellant that he had not met his burden of
demonstrating the establishment cf a new domicile ocutside .of
Massachusetts, and therefore he remained domiciled in
Massachusetts during the tax years at issue. As a result of the
audit, the Commissioner issued o the appellant a Notice of
Intention to Assess dated January 4, 2015 and then a Notice of
Assessment dated February 18, 2015, notifying the appellant of
assessments of tax, together with interest and underreporting

penalty, as detailed below:

ATB 20192-513



2010 2011 2012 Total

" Tax deficiency 5 213,852 83,964,038 $2,548,214
Interest 5 37,717 S 485,777 $ 196,204
Penalty 5 42,770 $ 792,807 $ 505,643
Total S 294,339 5,242,622 3,257,061 58,784,022

on Epril 21, 2015, the appellant filed Form CA-6, Application
for Abatement/Amended Return, seeking abatement of the deficiency
and penally assessments for the-taX years at issue, which the
Commissionér denied by a Notice of Abatement Dstermination dated
October 18, 2016. On December 15, 2016, the appellant seasonably
filed his appeal with the Board. On the basis of the foregolng,
the Board found and ruled that it had jurisdiction to hear and
dec;de this appeal.

Based upon the parties’ subsequent discussions, the appellant
has conceded liability fcor a pdrtion of the assessed tax
deficiencies, for issues unﬁelated to the domicile issue in
dispute. The amcunts of tax deficiency, not including interest and

penalty, that remain in dispute are as follows:

2010 2011 2012 Total
" Total tax deficlency § 213,852 53,964,038 52,548,214 $6,726,104
Less amount conceded 8 {137) 5 (22,064)' § (0y § {22,201)
Tax amount at issue $ 213,715 53,941,074 52,548,214 $6,703,903

Witnesses
At the hearing of this appeal, the appellant testified and

presented testimony from the following five witnesses.

ATB 2019-514



Patricia Kennedy_(“Ms. Kennedy”) is the appellant’s wife. The
appellant and Ms. Kennedy (collectively the “Kennedys”) had been
married for nearly.thirty yvears at the time of the hearing of this
appeal.

Charles Nardi 4is a longtime business associate of the
appellant, who, at the time of the hearing, was the chief executive
officer (“CEQ”) of Vinyl Develcopment, LLC, doing business as Zudy
(“Zudy”) and who had previously worked.at BackO%fice Associates,
ing. (“BackQffice”). BackOffice and Zudy are companies founded by
the Ksnnedys.

Erin Maker served as the'personal assistant for both Ms.
Kennedy and the appellant at BackOffice.

Robert Olmsted is a longtime business assoclate and friend of
the appellapt. He was a one-third owner of a prior business
endeavor started by the‘appellant knewn as Kennedy & Associates.
He later joined Backofficé in,1995. Mr., Olmsted was the appellant’s
best man at his wedding, and at the time of the hearing was an
independent contractor working for Zudy.

George Martin met the appellant in Miami Beach, Florida during

the summer of 2011. Mr. Martin owned the house adjacent to the

appellant’s Miaml Beach property.
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Personal history

The appellant was born in Massachusetts and moved to Flo;i&a
when he was seven years old. He went to school in Tampa and
graduated from the University of South Florida in 1873. Affer
college, the appellant attended gracduate schéol at the University
of North Carclina (“UﬁC”) and also worked as a computer programmer
at UNC’s computer center. The appellant did noﬁ complete his
graduate school c;ursework, choosing instead to. work at UNC for
several years. Subseguently, the appellant worked as a computer
'programmer or scftware consultant for several companies across the
country.

in 1982, the appellant moved to Richmond, Virginia where he
met Ms. Kennedy? The Kennedys mérried in June 1988 and subsequently
had four sons, all of whom were born in Virginia: Matthew, born in
1989; Michael, born in 1991; Marshall, born in 185%3; and Mitchell,
born in 1994. From 1990 through 1992, the Kennédys continued to
live in Virginia and vacation on Cape Cod during the summer,
staying at the vacation home of a friend. In 1983, the Kennedys

built their own vacation home in Brewster, Massachusetts.

The Kennedys’ home in Brewster, Massachusetts
Ms. Kennedy testified that during the time that their children
were young, both she and the appellant were not happy with the

expansion happening in Richmond. While the appellant testified
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that he traveled for work frequen£ly and professed that hé did not
mind where he lived, both Kennedys readily admitted that they
thought that Cape Cod would provide a better environment for
raising a family. In 1987, when their sons were between the ages
of three and eight years‘old, the Kennedys sold their hbme in
Virginia and moved to their vacation home in Brewster, making 1t
their full-time home. The Kennedys no longer owned any property'in
Virginia once they relocated to Maséachusetts. b

Tn 2005 the.Kennedys moved to a‘larger, waterfront property
in Orleans, and then in 2008 they moved to 285 Long Pond Road in
Brewster (“Brewster Farm property”), an sven larger sixty-acre
parcel of land that was impréved with a 5,000-square-foot farmhouse
that was originally constructed in 1300 {(“Brewster farmhouse”).
Also located on the Brewster Farm property were gseveral smaller
puildings, including a chicken coop.and a pony barn, an outdoor
pool, and tennis courts. The Kennedys made substan£ial renovations
to the Brewster farmhouée and renovated the outdoor tennis courts.
They also built a pool house and an indoor sports complex that
included an indoor tennis court, a racguetball court, an exercise
room, and a golf simulator, which Ms. Kennedy testified was for
the appellant, as she ‘did, not play golf. Although she was
responsible for the day-to-day overseeing of the renovations on

the property, Ms. Kennedy testified that the appellant was involved
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in the “high-level decision making” and was personally responsible

for the Brewster Farm property’s landscaping.

The Kennedys'’ homé in Miami Beach, Florida

Ms. Kennedy testified that, prior to the tax years at issue,
the Kennedys had often discussed purchasing a property in Miami
Beach. She testified that both éhe ana her husbahd loved the
ambiance of Miami Beach, and they enjoyed many activities there,
including dining, attending sporting eveﬁts‘and concerts, visiting
art galleries, and shopping. Ms. Kennedy <testified that she
actually did the “heavy Lifting” in actively Alooking for a
properﬁy, going to Miami Beach on numerous occasions without her
husﬁand, assisted by her chief of staff at BackOffice and by the
head of marketing at BackOffice, who 5ad ties to Florida, and her
Florida realtor, Jaime Goff.

Riter Ms. Xennedy haﬁ visited between forty? and fifty
properties, she found 303 Fast Dilido Drive, a furnished property
along Miami Beach (“Miami Beacﬂ house”). Ms. Rennedy testified
that the Kennedys togéther visited the.Miami Beach house upon the
advice of her Florida realtor. While she testified that her husband
was the one to make the verbal offer, Ms. Kennedy readily admitt@d
her involvement, that “we came back through a couple of times to
confirm certain things,” including the terms of their offer to

purchase the property. The Kennedys closed on the Miami Beach house
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on June 15, 2010. Title to the Miami Beach house was held by both
the Patricia Kennedy Revocable Trust and the Thomas Kennedy
Revocéble Trust.

The appellant contended that he furnished the Miami Beach
houée to his taste while Ms. Kennedy furnished the Brewster
farmhouse te hers. In an attempt to dempnstrate that the Miami
Beach house was his enclave and the Brewster farmhouse was Ms.
Kennedy’s domain, tﬁe appellant offered evidence of suppésedly
sentimental iﬁems that he moved to the Miami.Beach house as well
as suggestive artwork in the féyer. However, Ms. Kennedy testified
to having significant influence in furnishing the Miami Beach
house, particularly in selecting certain dining room bar stcols.
The appellant’s child;en, who visited the Miami Beach house on
their school vacations/ “thought it was very cool” to have a place

in Miami Beach to visit, according to Mr. Olmsted’s testimony.

Business activities

Thelappellant testified that he and his wife had a “great
marriage” and that they accomplished many things together,
particularly related to their highly successiul business ventures.
Around the time they got married, the Kennedys started a software
company called Kennedy & Associates. The appellant’s role was
primarily to develop software and provide technical support while

Ms. Kennedy’s role was to manage the business operations. The
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appellant festified that they made a great team, with the appellant
producing innovative products and Ms. Kennedy negotiating
contracts at prices that the appellant would never have asked. The
Kennedys sold Kennedy & Associlates in December 19692 tolTredegar
Corporation. The Kennedys used the proceeds of this sale to build
the Brewster vacation home in 1983.

Then in 1994, while still in Virginia, the éppeilant founded
BackOffice, a glcbal scftware and‘consultiné—service company that
focused on providing iﬁformation governance and data migration
services. When the Kennedys moved to Massachusetts in 1887, they
also moved the BackOffice headquarters to the adjacent town of
Orleans. The Kennedys first rented a small office in Orleans then
moved to larger spaces as the business grew, eventually locating
BackOffice in an 11, 000-square-foot office in South Harwich.

ITn 2007, Ms. Kennedy'began working at BackOffice as vice
president of sales and markseting, eventually becomiﬁg president
and CEQ. The appellant served as the headAsoftwa:e developer, chief
technical officer (“"CTO”), and chairman cof the board of directors.

The appelilant testified that the other software developers
were not p%ysically present in Massachusetts, and that he could do
the software-development work remotely from any location. His
leadership positions, however, reguired him to travel extensively,
consulting gnd supporting the technical design and sale of

BackCffice software at many events and trade shows, as well as to
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be on location frequently at the BackOffice headquarters. Ms. Maker
testified that the appellant had to be in Massachusetts freqguently
during the tax years at issue because “there were people within
the company that were pulling on him, that wanted time with him,
face time with him.” Calendars maintained by the appellant during
the tax years at issue Corroborated the appellant’s attendance aﬁu
frequent ﬁeetings at the BackOffice headquarters in South Harwich.

As Backdffice continued to grow.in the following years, the
Kennedys began to acguire additional business properties on Cape
Cod, several that were leased to BackOffice to be used for parking,
housing, and training facilities. During the tax years at iésue,
BackOffice had an office in Bostqn as well as offices in non-
Massachusetts locations: San Jose, California; Georgia; Alvarado,
Texaé; and Austin, Texas. BackOffice also had offices outside of
the United States in Singapore, London, and Sydney. On April &,
2011, BackOffice entered intQ an Office Use License Agreement for
use of an SOO;square—foot cffice and training room,iﬁ Miami Beach.
The lease allowed BackOffice to use this space for four days per
month, not to exceed twelve times dufing the térm of the one-year:
lease. The appellaht rarely used thé Miami Beach cffice, working
instead from the Miami Beach house. At all times relevant to this
appeal, BackCffice’s principal address was 940 Main Street, South

Harwich.

ATB 2019-521




As BackOffice confinued to grow, the Kennedys became
interested in transforming the privately held‘company to a public
company with shares of stock for sale on the public market.
- Fxtensive negotiations began with Goldman Sachs (“Goldman”), which
became the frontrunner for the investment. Preparations were made,
which included the formation of an entity, BAOF Holdings, Inc.
(“Holdings"},‘fo hold the appellant’s interest in BackOffige. in
January 2008, Goldman purchased a fifteen percent intérest in
BackOffice for $30 million. Pursuant to that investment, Goldman
alsc obtained two seats on BackOffice’s board cof directors. The
2008 Goldman investment provided the Kennedys With a sizeable
amount of cash, which facilitated the purchase of the Miami Beach
house.

At the first BackOffice board of directors meeting in the
spring of 2008, after Goldman’s initial investment, Goldman’s
directors on BackOffice’s board informed the other BackOffice
board members that Goldman wanted to change BackOffice’s
management team; they wanted to replace Ms. Kennedy as CEO, because
Goldman did not believe that a husband-and-wife management team
was conducive‘to-a public offering. Then in May 2011, Goldman
purchased additional shares of the company for $125 million, giving
Goldman a fifty-one percent ownership in BackOffice and a
contrclling interest in the company. OnrMay 10, 2011, the appellant

signed an employment agreement to continue his employment as CTO
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for BackOffice. On that same day, at the direction of Goldman, Ms.
Kennedy was dismissed from. her duties as president and CEO of
BackOffice and later, on September 9, 2011, she resigned as an
employee. On November 15, 2011, the appellant resigned as CTO. On
the same day, Ms. Kennedy replaced the appellant as Holdings’
appointed manager of BackOffice, with a seat on the BackCfflice
board of directors. The appellant also retained his thirty percent
interest in BackOffice, héld through Holdings. ©On December 18,
2012, after What the Kennedys testified was a strained relationship
with Goldman, the appellant, through Holdings, divested himself of
his remaining interest in BackOffice, which Goldmaﬁ purchased for
spproximately $85 million.

While the appellant testified that he was surprised when
Goldman acquired the controlling interest in BackOffice in 2011,
he nonetheless admitted that, upon Goldman’s initial investment in
2008, he expected that he would exit BackOffice within five years,
and  that either an Initial ©Public Offering (“IPO”} or an
acquisition would occur and that “everybody was excited about it.”
The appellant thus understood that he would be realizing a large
capital gain within. about five vyears from Goldman’s original
investment. When Goldman offered to purchasé the majority interest
in BackOffice in early 2011, both the appellant and Ms. Kennedy
testified that it was the aépellant who made the ultimate decision

to sell. The appellant further admitted on cross—-examination that
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tax savings was a consideration for his decisien to change his
domicile to Florida. Ms. Kennedy did not own any  shares 1in
BackOffice and thus did not report any of the gain.

| In 2012} tThe Kennedys started SportsMoney, L1C
(“SportsMoney”), a business veﬁture whose purpose was to help
professional athletes manége their wealth. SpbrtsMoney was short-
lived, hdwgver, and by 2013, the Kennedys started another husband-
and-wife business venture,‘Zudy, a software development company.
The Kennedys formed Zudy in Delaware on October 21, 2012 and
registered it as a foreign LLC in Florida on March 17, 2015 and in
Massachusetts on February 2, 2016. 2s of the time of the hearing,
7udy was headguartered in Miami Beach with an office 1in
Massachusetts. Ms. Kenhedy testified that the appellant is
primarily responsible for software development while she runs
zudy’s day-to-day operations from Massachusetts and that she
reports to Zudyfs CEQ, Mr. Nardi.

Finally, the Kennedys together own a property management
company, K&M Management, Inc. (“K&M Management”), and a persoﬁal
finance company, KsM Tnvestments, LLC (“K&M Investments”}, to
manage ﬁheir real estate holdings and their personal finances,
respectively. Both companies were headquartered in South Earwich
during the tax years at issue. Virtually all of the Kennedys’
bills, including all bills from Florida with the exception of bills

from the City of Miami Beach, were directed to K&M Management’ s
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finance director. K&M Management purchased the appellant’s health
insurance, and his health insurance card at the time of the hearing

showed K&M Management’s South Harwich address.

Family

Ms. Kennedy testified that the appellant and his sons shared
a very cioselrelationsbip. The appellant also enjoyed a close
relationship with his wife. The éppellané conceded that Ms. Kennedy
was domiciled in Massachusetts during the tax years at issue and
that three of the Kennedy sons were attending high school or
college in Massachusetts during that time period; the cldest son,
Matthew, attended the University of South Florida in Tampa. During
the tax years at issue, two of the appellant’s sons graduated from
high scheol, and the appeilant attended both graduation ceremonies
in Massachusetts.

The appellant traveled extensively for his work, but the
appellant testified that he demanded that BackOffice lease
additional private Jet time so that he could fly back to
Massachusetts to be with his children. For example, he flew home
for his son Marshall’s Friday night high schocl football games.
Marshall went on to attend Springfield College in Massaéhusetts,'
where he wrestled. The appellant’s calendar reveals that he

attended Marshall’s wrestling tournaments in Massachusetts during
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2010 and 2011, and that he brought his son Michael to college at
Massachusetts Maritime Academy in August 2010.
Sports remained a strong interest for the appellant and a

means to bond with his sons Michael and Marshall. However, his

other two sons, Matthew and Mitchell, were more interested in art .

than sports. The appellant shared a passion for art with these two

sons, and he testified that he often attended art galleries with

them during the tax years at issue.

Despite a busy travel schedule, the Kennedys had a committed
and “great marriage.” The appellant testified, using a Venn diagram
as an example, that he had warned Ms, Kennedy prior to getting
married that he needed a certain amount of space and independence

in order for their marriage to work. The Venn diagram he created

at trial showad just a sliver of shared activities with Ms.

Kennedy. The Kennedys enjoyed some’ leisure activities separately
from each other. The appellant enjoyed playing gelf, an activity
that he did not share with anyone else in his family. Statements
entered into evidence indicate that the appellant had ﬁemberships
at country clubs - first Captains Golf Course in Brewster and then
Eastward Ho! in Chatham - attended golf events and took golf
lessons at various locations on Cape Cod during 2010 and 2011. He
also played golf in Gecrgia during the same general time period.

In Florida, the appellant played golf about five or six times a
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year during the tax years at issue, but he was not a member of any
country clubs there.

Both the appellant and Ms. Kennedy testified to many shared
acfivities, particularly starting .businesses together. The
appellant once told a reporter that he and his wife “treat business
as an all-consuming hobby. Some people like to play chess, some
like to play tennis. We like to start up and run buginesses.” Their
businésses were hugely successful endeavors. |

The Kennedys also enjoyed several leisure activities
together. During the tax years at issue, Ms. Kennedy owned two
boats in Maésachusetts, which the Kennedys enjoyed with their sons
Michael and Mitchell. The appellant testified that those were Ms.
Kennedy's boats. He further testified that she knew how to operate
them and that he would never go bﬁ those boats without her. The
appellant claimed that he moved to Florida to boat more often, and
he did purchase, for use in Fleorida, a forty-one-foot Tiara yacht
in October 2012, near the end of the tax years at issue. However,
Mr. Nardi dubbed the boat “the artwork that was cutside,” since it
WaS rérely used.

The Kennedys also enjoyed dining out together, and they had
favorite restaurants in both Massachusetts and Florida. The
appellant testified to enjoying Cuban coffee and dining out in

Miami Beach on his own. However, Ms. FKennedy also testified to
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enjoying the dining scene and shopping in Miami Beach, testifying
that “[f}he shopping is really good.”

In addition to the nuclear family of Ms. Kennedy and thelr
sons, the appellant alsc has cxtended family, namely a father and
sister. The appellant’s father and sister lived in North Carolina
during most of the relevant time period. In December 2012, the
appellant bought a residence for his father and sister in Miami
Beach, a short distanée from the Kennedys’ Miami Beach house. éhe
appellant testified that he enjoyed spending time with his father
iﬂ Miami Beach. However? after approximately eight months, his

father and sister moved back to North Carolina.

Propertiés

The Kennedys owned the following properties.in Massachusetts,
Florida, and other locations during the tax years at issue:

Massachusetts properties

The Kennedys owned the Brewster farmhouse. It 1is undisputed
that Ms. Kennedy was domiciled in Brewster during the tax years at
issue.

The Kennedys, through wvarious LLCs, also owned several
investment properties in Massachusetts during the tax years at
issue. Ms. Kennedy testified that they selected names for the LLCs

to help the appellant remember where each property was located.
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The entity Cranberry Investments, LLC held BackOffice's
headquarters building, which was purchased from Mr. Nardi in
January-2005. The LLC owned this property throughout the entire
relevant time period.

The entity 3 Indian Trail, LLC held a small three-bedroom
ranch that was located adjacent to BackOffice’s headguarters in
South Harwich. The LLC rented this propefty to BackOffice to house
visiting out-of-town Backbffice employees. The LLC acguired this
property in December 2007 and'sold it in July 2011.

The entity 928 Main Street, LLC purchased the parcel at this
address to increase the parking area for BackOffice by ten parkiﬁg
Spots. The LLC purchased this property in July 2000 and sold 1t in
September 2012.

The entity Cept. Harry Hunt House, LLC held a property
improved with a six-bedroom home located on Little Pleasant Bay in
.Orleans,‘ which the LLC rented to BackOffice ‘for housing‘rand
training. The LLC acguired this property in 2006 and owned it
throughout the entire relevant time period.

The entity Building Down the Road, LLC held a commercial
building located adjacent to the BackOffice parcel and was used to
expand BackOffice. The LLC acquired the property iﬁ October 2008
and owned 1t throughout the entire relevant time period.

The entity Six Crown, LLC held a parcel of land adjacent to

the BackOffice headguarters. This property was purchased for
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expansion of BackOffice and its parking lot, The LLC retained this
parcel throughout the entire relevant time period.

The entity Sears House of Brewster, LLC owned a parcel on the
Brewster Farm property that was improved with a 1933 mail-order
Sears and Roebuck house, which the LLC rented to BackOffice. The
LLC owned this parcel throughout the entire relevant time period.

The entity Finlay Road, @ LLC held two small condominium
buildings in Orleans for investment purposes. The entity purchased
the property sometime during 2004 and sold it in May 2011,

The entity Main Street Orleans, LLC held an office building
in Orleans. The Kennedys used the upstairs as coffice space and the
LLC rented the downstairs te commercial businesses. The LLC
acquired this property in April 2006 and scld it in two separate
transactions in July and September 2012.

The entity 21 Tom Hollow Lane, LLC owned the parcel at this
address, located adjacent to’the waterfront property that the
Kennedys built in Orleans. This parcel was improved with a house,
and the Kennedys held the parcel throughout the entire relevant
time peried.

Finally, the entities Satucket Path, LLC, Othef Side of the
Road, LLC, and Musket Hill, LLC eaéh owned a parcel of land that
was part of the Brewster Farm property. The LLCs owned these

parcels throughout the entire relevant time period.
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In addition to these properties jointly owned with Ms.
Kennedy, the apéellant also owned; through K&M Iﬁvestments, his
deceased mother’s farm in Dartmeouth. Ms. Kennedy testified that
the appellant intended tc retain ownership of that parcel.

Florida propertieé

The appellant and Ms. Kennedy owned the Miami Beach house
jointly. In Decembef 2012, the appellant purchased a second Florida
property at 625 East Dilido Drive thét %as to be uéed_by his father
~and his sister.

Properties in other locations

The appellant ownad a property located on a golf course on
Sea Islaﬂd, Georgia, which he acguired in 2007. The appellant
testified that he typically spent his birthdays on Sea Island with
friends; however, the appellant’s calendar showed that he did not
spend his birthdays there in 2010 and 2012. The appellant testified
that he and his wife never went ‘to the Sea Island property
together. Ms. Kennedy testified that she went to the Sea Island
property with her girlfriends on oneloccasion, and that her scns
only rarely went there because they did not like the golf

community.

The Kennedys together owned cther properties as well in New

York, St. Barts, and Plymouth, Vermont.
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Holidays, sports, and leisure

Tha Kennedys célebrated three major holidays together:
Thanksgiving, Christmas, and the Fourth of July. Thanksgiving and
Christmas weré célebrated strictly with the Kennedy family wnile
the Fourth of July included friends and coclleagues. During theltax
vears at issue, the Kennedys celebrated all but one of these
holidays in Massachusetts, the iny exception being Thanksgilving
in 2012? when the Kennedys went to see the New England Patriots
(“Patriots”) play the New York Jets in New York. The Kennedys did
not celebrate any of these holidays in Florida during the tax years
at issue.

Spectator sports was an important leisure activity to the
appellant. The Kennedys were hoth avid Patriots fans, and two of
their sons accompanied theﬁ,regularlf to Patriots games. After the
sale of their interest in BackOffice. to Goldman, Ms. Kennedy
purchased a luxury suite at Gillette Stadium. The appellant
preferred to sit at the club level outdoors. The appellant owned
elght club-level, season-ticket seats for the Patriots.

The appellant was also a Boston Red Sox (“Red Sox”) fan.
Puring the relevant time period, the Thomas R. Kennedy Jr. Trust,
of which the appellant was a beneficiary, owned season tickets to
Red Sox games. Ms. Kennedy testified that the appellant attendea
some regular-season Red Sox games and that they both attended

playoff and World Series games together. The appellant testified
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that he had attended Red éox spring training in Ft. Myers for the
past ten years. However, according to his calendar, the appellant
spent no days at Ft. Myers spring training in 2010 and only four
days at spring training in 2011. The appellant did attend some
Miami Marlins games in 2012, but he was not a season-ticket holder
during the tax years at issue, Finally, BackOffice owned a suite
at TD Garden for Boston Celtics (“Celticsh) and Boston Bruiﬁs
(“Bruins”) games, and during the tax years.at issue,wthe appellant
attended some Celtics and Bruins games: Neither the appellant nor
his businesses owned any season tickets for any'sports teams 1in
Florida during the tax years at 1ssue, nor did any other entity
associated with the appellant.

In Florida, the appellant enjoyed companionship with some
friends. Theiparents of an early investor in BackCffice lived in
Faterc. When in Florida, the appellant would take them to Red Sox
spring training.games and doctor appointments. In return, they
would cook for him and at times insist on cleaning his laundfy.
The appellant also attended some Miami Heat basketball games in
Florida Qith a financial advisor whom the appellant had utilized
to 4nvest. funds he had received from the Goldman sale.

The appellant very much énjoyed his time at the Miami Beach
house. The appellant, Ms. Maker, and Mr..Nardi testified to the
appellant’s enjoyment of the Miami.Beach lifestyle, particularly

Cuban-styled coffees and the restaurant scene. Ms. Maker testified
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that the appellant was far more relaxed in Miami Beach, even when
he was working, and that “he liked to go off the gfid a bit. He
was harder to reach” while in Miami Beach. The appellant himself
déscribed being at the Miama Béach house. as “Iy]bu feel like you

are on vacation.”

Motor vehicles

The Kennedys .ﬁaintained, an extensive car collection
throughout the tax years at lssue. Ms. Kénnedy testified that these
cars were kept both in Massachusétts and Florida. The Kennedys
gsold and purchaéed new cars frequently. Mr. Nardi testified té a
certain yellow Ferrari that was a prized possession, which the
appeliant kept at the Miami Beach house. However, the appelilant
did not own the yellow Ferrari during the tax years at issue; the

parties stipulated that he acquired this vehicle in 2013.

Charitable/medical/ministerial activities

The appellant volunteered with the University of South
Florida, but he admitted that this endeavor was not time consuﬁing
and consisted of soliciting deonations Dby telephéne, énd thus could

be performed in any location. In 2010, the appellant made an

aggregate charitable contribution of $3 million to the University-

of South Florida, his alms mater. The University of South Florida
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Magazine, in its Spring & Summer 2010 edition, recognized that the
appellant and Ms. Kennedy, “a Harwich MA'couple,” made the gift.

During the tax years at Lssue, the appellant’s primary

physician was located in Massachusetts. The appellant offered nec

evidence of having a primary physiéian in Florida. On January 14,
2011, the appellant had surgery on his Achilles tendon 1in
Massachusetts. He recuperated in Massachusetts for a month. He
testified that after the reeovery period he went to Miami Beach té
do his physical therapy. However, the appellant’s calendar shows
that he left Massachusetts on February 10, 2011, spent one day in
Miami Beach, and then traveled extensively; he did not return fo
Miami Beach until March 23.

The appellant also had an accountant who was located  in
Massachusetts. The appellanf testified that his accountant, who
“was also his Tax return preparer, advised him to look at a domicilé
website he recommended and “to make sure you do these things so
they‘recognize the fact that you moved there.” Along those iines,
the appellant executed vafious estate-planning documents, which
described him as being “of Miami Beach.” The appellant obtained
his Florida driver’s license on June 2%, 2010, and at that time he
also registered to vote ianlorida. The appellant voted only in

the Pregidential election in November 2016.
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Comparison of physical presence in Massachusetts and Florida
The parties stipulated to the number of days that the
appellant was physically present in Massachusetts and Florida

during the tax years at lssue:

Calendar year Massachusetts Flerida day
day count count
2010 178 83
2011 146 14z

2012 153 157

The appellant’s calendar shows that on June 2, 2010, the day
the appellant purported to have become domiciled in Florida, he
was nof physically present in Florida; rather, he was in San
Francisco. He was not physically in Florida until June Z3, 2010,
for one day, and then not again until June 29, 2010, for only cne
day when he cbtained his Florida ariver’s license. His travel to
Florida remained speradic until the end of 2011, when he ceased
his employment with BackOffice. During 2012, the appellant spent
more time in Miami Beach; however, his calendar reveals that he
continued to spend significant time in Massachusetts, inclu@ing
spending the important holidays in Brewster, wiﬁh the exception of

the Thanksgiving in New York to watch the Patriots game.
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The Board’s findings:

The Board ultimately did not find credible many aspects of
the appellant’s testimony upon which his Florida domicile argument
depended.

The Board found that +the evidence did not support the
appellant’s insistence that he lived a very separate life from his
wife and that they maintained separate legal domiciles during the
tax years at issue. Rather, the Board found that the‘appellant and
his wife were very much a united couple who shared the same
domicile. While it is true that the appellant traveled extensively
for work during the tax years at issue, thus preventing him and
his wife from sharing a daily weekday routine, the appellant
nonetheless shared much of his life with Ms. Kennedy, including
not only personal and family activitieé, but also a robust
professional and business 1ife. The Kennedy husband-and-wife
partnership, with the appellant as the product developer and his
wife as the business manager and contract negotiator, was
inéredibly successful. Starﬁimg with their first venture, Kennedy
& Associates, they together created fast-growing companies and
turned substantial profits.

Although on a personal level the Kennedys each had separate
interests, they aiso enjoyed many activities together, in both
Massachusetts and Florida, during the tax years at issﬁe; By all

accounts, Ms. Kennedy also enjoyed Miami Beach, particularly the

ATB 2018-537




shopping, and she'waé the one to do thg “heavy lifting” in finding
the Miami Beach house, exploring between forty and [ifty houses IO
find the right one. Morsover, contrary to the éppeilant’s,reliance
on sentimental items or differences in decorating style-to show
that the Miami Beach héuse was his private eﬁclave, the Board found
. that perscnal effects merely demonstrated a conscious choice to
give the Miami Beach house a distinctive ambiance.

The appellant was.also very close with hi; four sons, three
of whom were 1in Massachuéetts attending high school or college
during the tax years at issue. The Kennedys had the means to
provide more than one home for their family’s enjoyment, but the
Board found that the crux of the Kennedy family life was based in
Massachusetts. The boys enjoyed time at the Miami Beach hoﬁse, but
they regarded it as Jjust another place they could wvisit. By
contrast, the family spent the bulk of the major holidays together
al their family home, the Brewster farmhouse. The appéllant was
actively present in the lives of his sons, in fact refusing to
travel unless he could be back in Massachusetts for his son's
Friday night games. While the appellant enjoyed spending scme time
with his father in Miami Beach, his father did not live in Miami
Beach until the very end of the tax years at issue. Moreover, The
Board found that the appellant spent the wvast majority of his
family time with his wife and his sons in Massachusetts during the

tax years at issue. The Board thus found and ruled that the center
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of the appellant’s family life remained 1n Brewster during the tax
years at issue.

The appellant also had stronger business ties to Brewster
than he did to Miami Beach. during the tax years at issue. The
appellant’s businesses - namely BackOffice, SportsMoney, K&M
Management, and K&M Investments - were all headquartered in
Massachusetts, not in Florida. While BackOffice rented physical
space in Florida; the lease was limited to four days per month,
not to exceed twelve.times during the term of the one-year lease.
By contrast, BackOffice occupiled numerous parcels in
Massachusetts.

The appellant’s job as a programmer involved extensive travel
and thé ability to do many aspects of his job from any location.
However, Ms. Maker testified that many people were “pulling on
him” and required “face time” with the appellant; that “face time”
occurred at BackOffice’s headguarters 1n Massachusetts. By
contrast, when he was in Miami Beach, the appellant was more “off
the grid” and by all accoqnts far more “relaxed”; in fact, he
viewed his Miami Beach retreat to be zkin te a “vacation” that
included work but alsc leisure activities. Rather than establish
that his business life centered in Miami Beach, the Board found
that the evidence established the opposite - that Miami Beach
provided a secluded respite for the appéllant from his

Massachusetts-based work.
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Even after the appellant resigned from his pésition as CTC of
BackOffice in Noﬁember 2011, he nonetheless remained involved 1in
BackOffice. The appellant technically resigned from the board of
directors, buf rather thaﬁ letting his position go to an unrelated
tﬁird party, he assigned his seat to his wife and he retained a
thirty-percent interest in BackOffice. The fact that the appellant
could exercise his authority to designate his’replacément on the
board of directors, and that he did so delegate the position to a
clése family member, in&icated' stroﬁg business ties to his
Massachusetts-based business through the end cof the tax years at
issue.

The RBoard further found that the appellant’s social life was
primarily cenéered in Massachusetts during the taﬁ years at lssue.
The appellant spent much leisure time attending spofting events.
He held season tickets to four major Massachusetts professional
sports teams, yet he held nc season tickets to any sports teams in
Florida. The appellant also played golf and boated primarily in
Massachusetts. He belonged to country clubs in Massachusetts
during the tax years at issue and he boated more often with Ms.
Kennedy on her boat in Massachusetts than he did alone on “the
artwork that was outside” in Florida.

Further, the appellant retained his primary physician in
Massachusetts, where he also had surgery during the tax years at

issue.
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The appellant also held significant property interests in
Massachusetts, both business and persconal. The appellant owned the
Brewster farmhouse jointly with Ms. Kennedy. It housed his family
and it included amenities and features to his taste, particularly
the golf simulator as well as much of the landscaping. Together
with Ms. Kennedy, the appellant also, through various LLCs, owned
numercus Massachusetts propertiss that were leased to BackOffice
fer visitor housing, parking,rand expansion of its headquarters.
The appellant and Ms. Kennedy also‘ jointly held additional
investment properties in Massachusetts. By-contraét, the appellant
did not own any business or investment properties in Florida during
the tax years at issue. His property interests in Florida consisted
sclely of the Miami Beach house and the nearby property at 625
Fast Dilido. The appellant alsc owned vacation homes in other
locations - Georgia, New York, St. Barts, and Vermont.

Comparing his activities, relationships, and real estate
holdings‘in Massachusetls versus Florida, the Board found that the
appellant’s‘bﬁsiness, family, and perscnal lives were centered in
Massachusetts. By contrast, Florida was primarily é destination
where the appellant could relax and be “off the grid.”

Upbn the advice of his Massachusétts—based accountant, the
appellant consulted a website designed for the pufpose of proving
z change of domicile for tax purposes, and he took some of the

recommended ministerial steps in an attempt to make a convincing

o
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show of his change of domicile to Florida. These changes included
executing some estate-planning documents, obtaining a Florida
driver’s license, and reglstering to vote In florida. However, the
appellant did not vete in Florida during the tax years at issue,
nor did he change care from his Massachusetts physician. The Board
foﬁnd that the appellant’s perfunctory, ministerial steps were not
sufficient to demonstrate that he had changed the center of his
life from Massachusetts to Florida.

The Board likewise found that the appellant’/s extensive car
collection, a hobby that the appellant was able to afford, failed
to prove that the center of his life had moved to Florida, as some
of his vehicles ware garaged in Florida and some in Massachusetts.

The number of days that the appellant spent in Florida during
the tax years at issue did not establish a change of domicile from
Massachusetts. The appellant spent fewer days in Florida than in
Massachusetts during tax years 2010 and 2011 and only four more
days in Florida than in Massachusetts during tax year 201Z.
Moreover, for a taxpayer who travels extensively for work and
pleasure and has multiple homes, the mbre important inguiry is the
location of the taxpayer’s center of 1life. The Board found that
the center of the appellant’s life remained in Massachusetts during
the tax years at 1lssue.

The Board further found a tax motivation for the appellant’s

claimed change of demicile. Goldman acguired an interest in
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BackOffice in 2008, the controlling interest in 2011, and then
acquired the a?pellaﬁt’s remaining interest from Holdings in 2012.
The appellant himself testified to understanding, from the start
of negotiations with Goldman in 2008, that Goldman was planning tok
take control of BackOffice’s management as part'of either an IFO
or an acquisition of BackOffice. The appellant knew that he would
be realizing a large capital gain within five years from Goldman’s
initial investment, and he in fact soldradditional shares to
Goldman in 2011. The Board thus found that tax planning served as
the impetus for the appellant to attempt To change his domicile to
Florida, a jurisdiction that imposés no income tax.

For all of these reasons, the Board found and ruled that the
appellant failed to meét his burden of proving that the center of
his life had moved to Florida and that he was no longer domiciled
in Massachusetts during the tax years at issue.

Based on the Board’s fiﬁding and ruling that the appellant
was domiciled in Massachusetts at all relevant times, and on
Massachusetts laﬁ as explained in the Opinion, the appellant was
subject to Massachusetts tax on all his taxable income for each of
the tax years at issue. The additional assessment of tax fof each
‘tax year at issue was, therefore, valid. The amount of tax that
the appellant was required to show on his return exceeded ten
percent of the amount that was shown on his return for ail three

tax years at issue. Therefore, as will be explained in the Opinion,
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the Boardhfound that the appellant had a substantial underpavyment
in each of the fax years at. issue and he failed to establish a
basis for abatement of the substantial underpayment penalty
imposed'pursuant to G.L. c: 62C, § 35A.

Accordingly, the Board issued a decision for the appellee in

this appeal.

OPINION
Domicile

For Massachusetts income tax purposes, “[r}esidents shall be
taxed on their taxable income.” G.L. c. 62, § 4. The starting point
for determining Massachusetts taxable income 18 “federal -gross
income” with certain modifications not here relevant. G.L. c. 62,
§ 2{(a). Federal gross income "is defiﬁed_ as “all income from
whatever source derived.” I.R.C. § 6l(a). Accordingly, a
Massachusetts faxpayer is taxable on all incomne, regardiess of its
source,

In contrast, Massachusetts taxes nonresidents only on incomne
from Massachusetts sources., G.L. ¢. 62, § 5A. The term “resident”
is defined as:

(1) any natural person domiciled in the commonwealth, or

(2) any natural person who 1is not domiciled in the

commonwealth but who maintaing a permanent place of

abode in the commonwealth and spends in the aggregate

more than one hundred eighty-three days of the taxable

year in the commonwealth, including days spent partially
in and partially cut of the commonwealth.
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G.L. c. 62, § 1(f). Accordingly, if the appellant was domiciled in
Massachusetts during the tax years at i1ssue, he 1is taxable on all
of his income regardless of the number of days he spent in the
Commonwealth.

Domicile has been defined as “the place of actual residence
with intention to remain permanently or for an indefinite time and
without any certaié purpose to return to a former place of abode.”
McMahon v. McMahon, 31 Mass. App. Ct. 504, 505 (1891). ™“The
hallmark of démicile is that it is ‘the place where a person dwells
and which is the center of his domestic, social -and civil life.’”
Dotson v. Commissioner of Revenue, Mass. ATB Findings of Fact and
Reports 2010-9%7, 1017, 1018 (quoting_Reiersen v. Commissioner of
Revenue, 26 Mass. App. Ct. 124, 125 (1988, aff’d, 82 Mass. App.
Ct. 378 (2012).

While domicile ig ultimately a legal guestion, a person’s
domicile 1is primarily a guestion of fact. See Reiersen, 26 Mass.
App. Ct. at 124-25. When a taxpayer has factors on more than one
side of the “domicil ledger,” the Board “must welgh the evidence
and determine where it is that the taxpayer has his ‘home,’ that
is, the center of the major facets of the taxpayer’s life.” Swartz
v. Commissioner of Revenue, Mass. ATB Findings of Fact and Reports
2010—252, 266 (citations omitted). “The weight to be assigned to

particular factors and combinations of factors, together with the
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credibility of the testimonial evidence, are committed to the fact
finder’s resclution.” Hervitz v. Commissioner of Revenue, Mass.
ATB Findings of Fact and Reports 2002-252, 257, aff’d, 60 Mass.
App. Ct. 1103 (2003).

In the instant appeal, the appellant had the means To
establish residences in Florida and,]ﬁassachusetts, as well as
maintain houses in a few vacatipn destinations, “in each of which
he carried on important éarts of his life.” Horvitz, Mass. ATB
Findings:of Fact and Reporté at 2002-256. Havihg more than one
residence can lead to factors on more than one side of the “domicil
ledger.” Reiersen, 26 Mass. App. Ct. at 127. Howgver, only one of
those locations can be the appellant’s domicile forlpurposes of
taxation. Hershkoff v. Board of Registrars of Voters of Wo?cester,
366 Mass. 570, 576 (1974). Therefore, a determinaticn of domicile
depends upon a comprehensive facts-and-circumstances analysis with
the ultimate guestion being the location of the center of the
appellant’s life. See, e.g., Tax Collector of Lowell v. Hanchett,
240 Mass. 557, 561 (1922) (finding that proof of domicile “depends
upon no one fact or combination of circumstances, but from fhe
whole taken together it Hmst be determined in each particular
case”) .

Massachusetts follows the common law rule that a person with
legal capacity is considered to have changed his or her -demicile

by satisfying two elements: the establishment of ©physical
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residence in a different state and the intent to remain at the new
residence permanently or indefinitely. Dotson, 82 Mass. App. Ct.
at 383: see alsc Reiersen, 26 Mass. App. Ct. at 125 (guoting
Hershkbffﬁ 366 Mass. at 577). The determination of intent goes
beyond merely accepting the tazpayer's expression of intent and
instead requires an analysis of the facts closely connected to the
taxpéyer’s major Llife interests, including family and social
relations, business ‘coﬁnections, and civic and religious
activities, in order to determine his true intent; Sée Reiersen,
26 Mass. App. Ct. at 125 {citing Hershkoff, 366 Mass. at 576-77).

“It.is a general rule that the burden of showiﬁg a change of
domicil is upon the party asserting-the change.” Mellon Nat’l Bank
£ Trust Co. v. Commissioner of Corporations and Taxation, 327 Mass.
631, 638 (1951); Horvitz v. Commissioner of Revenue, 51 Mass. A@p.
Ct. 386, 394 (2001). See also Commonwealth v. Davis, 284 Mass. 41,
49 (1933) (“The burden of proof that his domicil was changed rested
on the defendant because he is the one who asserted that such
chaﬂge had taken place.”).

The appellant was undisputedly very close to his wife and
four children; therefore, an analysis of the center of the
appellant’s life must focus particularly on the appellant’s Ifamily
“and how and where he connected with them. The appellant pointed to
cases where a taxpayer was found to have created a domicile in a

different state while other close family members, particularly
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grown children, parents, or siblings, remained domiciled 1In
Massachusetts. See, e.g., Mee v. Commissioner, Mass. ATB Findings
of Fact and Reports 2010-274; Arena v. Commissioner, Mass. ATB
Tindings of Fact and Reports 2010-11; Williams v. Commissioner,
Mass. ATB Findings of Fact and Reports 2005-629.

However, married taxpayerslhave been far less successful in
proving a démicile apart from a spouse. A few taxpayers have shown
a center of life cutside of the'Massééhusetts marital home when
they were essentially estranged from their spouses. TFor example,
in Reiersen, the Appeéls Court affirméd tﬂe Board’s finding that
the appellant had established a domicile in the Philippines apart
from his wife, when the taxpayer and his wife were married in name
only and had avolded divorce merely because of their in-laws and
religicus beliefs. 26 Mass. App. Ct. at 126. Similarly, in Scagel
v. Commissioner af Revenue, Mass. ATB Findings of'Fact and Reports
1960-311, the taxpayer was legally separated from his wife when he
claimed a separate domicile in New Hampshire.

Far less common is the situation that the appellant here
claims - a center of life apart from a spouse with whom he shares
2 solid marriage. The Board previously_decided that a married
taxpayer had established a separate domicile 1n one unigue
situation involving unusual circumstances. The taXpayerrin Altman
v. Commissioner of Revenue, Mass. ATB Findings of Fact and Reports

2013-29%92, 295, suffered from serious health conditicns that

N
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required him to undergo repeated surgeries. Gradually over several
years prior to the tax year at issue there, the aging taxpayer,
who was retired, spenﬁ increasing amounts of time in his hoﬁse in
Florida. Id. at 2013-2%6. As his conditions progressed, the
taxpayer'reaiized that he could no longer remain in Massachusetts
for most of the year, as doilng so would risk his health,
particularly in the colder months. Id. Moreover, the retired
taxpayei’s social life had shifted to Florida as he aged: “as most
- of his friends nad either passed away or had reloéated to Florida
over the years, the taxpayer gradually found himself more closely
aligned with his community in Florida - particularly his country
club which he attended very freguently = than with the community
in Massachusetts.” Id. at 2013—314; Wwith his children grown and
raising families of their own, and being unable to work, the only
real Massachusetts tie remaining ﬁor the taxPayer was his wife,
who, being‘considerably younger than he, was still actively working
in Massachusetts and thus could not completely relocate to Flofida.
She did, however, significantly scale back her work so as to spend
as much time as possible in Florida with her husband, a substantial
ten days out of every two-week period. Id. at 2013-300. Thus, the
taxpayer’s “yalid health concerns,” and his established social
circle in Florida.that included his wife for substantial amounts
of time, together helped the taxpayer in Altman to establish a

domicile in Florida. See id. at 2013-313.
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Tﬁe instant appeal, however, lacks the special clrcumstances
in Altman and is instead more akin to Brew v. Commissioner of
Reveanue, Mass. ATEB Eindingé of Fact and Reports 2010-767, 785,
where the taxpayer was found not to have éhanged his domiciie when
he “had a close and loving ﬁarriage" with his spouse and “was
actively engaged in the lives of his two children,” all of whom
remained Massachusetts residents; Like the taxpayer in Brew, the
appellant continued to return to Massaéhusetts on ; frequent and
regular basis‘dufing the tax years at lssue to be with nhis wife
and children, The Board here likewise considered the appellant’s
close family ties to have “the greatest welght” in its
determination that the appellant had not akandoned his
Mzssachusetts domicile in favor of a new one in Florida during the
tax years at issue. Id. Contrast Devens v. Commissioner of Revenue,
Mass. ATB findings of Fact and Reports 2012-1001, 1024 (Board
placed conéiderable ﬁeight on the location of the taxpayer’s filance
in Florida in determining that the taxpayer had the reguisite
intent to change his domicile to Florida).

The Board also gave weight to the appellant’s business ties.
Unlike the taxpayer in Salah v. Commissioner of Revenue, Mass. ATB

Findings of Fact and Reports 1997-842, whose Massachusetts

husiness activities were reduced to occasional consultation on

isolated matters and his attendance at annual meetings, the

appellant was very active in BackOffice during the tax years at
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issue through November 15, 2011, when he resigned as an ecmployee
of BackOffice. As a programmer, the appellant could perform certain
aspects of his job from anywhere, and he was reqguired to travel
frequently to meet with clients. However, as a managel, the
appel%ant’s business alsc reguired a significant amount of “face
time.” The Board found that the “face time” occurrgd in
Massachusetts, at the .South Harwich headguarters of RackOffice,
where employees worked and where BackOffice rented property to
host corporate guests, as opposed fo Miami Beach, where BackOffice
had a lease that was restricted to no more than four days a month
and where‘the appellant went to get “off the grid” and relax.
Then in 2012, after he was no longsr an employee of
BackOffice, the appellant retained an dinterest in BackOffice
through his appointment of his wife as a member of the company’s
board of directors, as well as his retention of a thirty-percent
investment in the company. Moreover, the appellant endeavored to
establiish SporﬁsMoney in Maésachusetts during 2012, and his other
business ventures - K&M Management and K&M investménts - wWere
headquartered in Massachusetts, not in Flecrida. The Board thus
found and ruled that the center of the appellant’s business life
reﬁained in Massachusetts through tax year 2012, at the end of
which he finally divested himself of his interest in BackOffice.
See Schussel v. Commissioner of Revenue, Mass. ATB Findings of

Fact and Reports 2013-106, 129-30, aff’d, 86 Mass. App. Ct. 419
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(20143, 472 Mass. 83 (2015) (ruling that the taxpayers remained
domiciled in Massachusetts, in part because “Mr. Schussel remained
intimately involved with the operation of [the] businass”).

The appellant alsoc enjoyed several social activities 1n
Massachusetts that he did not partake of in Florida. Contrary to
the appellant’s claim that a strong motivation for the supposed
move to Florida was boating, his good friend characterized the
appellant’s boat as “the artwork that was cutside” for its lack Q%
use. By contrast, the appellant and his wife spent guailty time
boating with their sons in Massachusetts during the tax years at
issue. Another of the appellant’s favorite pastimes was golf. The
appellant was a member of golf clubs in Massachusetts at least
during tax years 201@ and 2011. In Florida, he played golf only
“minimally, and he did not join any clubs there. Withlrespect to
anoﬁher favorite péstime, spectator sports, the appellant held
season tickets, either individually or through an entity of which
he was a beneficiary, +to all four major sports teams in
Massachusetts, yet he held no season tickets tc any major saports
feams in Florida. The Board thus found that the center of the
appellant’s social life ?emained in Massachusetts during the Tax
years at lssue.

Upon the advice of his Massachusetts acgountant . and pursuant
to his independent internet research, the appellant made sure he

had completed basic ministerial steps in line with a change of
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domicile, including obtainlng a Florida driver’s license,
registering to vote 1in Florida, and executing estate-planning
documents to reflect a Florida address. However, the Board has
previcusly cautioned that ministerial steps cannot alone establish
a2 change of domicile if the center of the taxpayer’s life is not
already on that side of the “domicil ledger.” See Swartz, lMass.
ATE Findings of Fact and Reports at 2010~-263, 264 (finding that
'modest ministerial acts such as chéﬁging driver’s license and voter
registration were not persuasive evidence that Laxpayers had
changed their domicile to Florida.in light of subétantial evidence
to the contrary). Moreover, the appellant did not vote in Florida
until the 2016 election. He did not perform, any charitable
activities in Floridé but instead made a passive donation to his
alma mater. In addition, the appellant retained his primary
physician in Massachusetts, and he had his surgery and fecuperated
for a month in Massachusetts.

On the basis of the facts in evidence, the Board found that
the center of the appellant’s life remained.in Massachusetts during
the ftax years at issue. The Beoard thus found and ruled that the
appellant failed to meet his burden of proving a change of domicile

from Massachusetts to Florida for any of the tax years at issue.
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Underpayment penalty

Pursuant to G.L. ¢. 62C, § 35A (“§ 35A7), the Commissioner
may impose a twenty-percent penalty when an underpayment 1s either:
aftributable to negligence or disregard of Massachusetts tax laws
or public written statements; or when an Uﬂderstatemgnt of tax
liability 1is éubstantial. In this appeal, the issue was whether
the understatement for each tax year was substantial.

An understatement 1s “substantial” if it ‘“exceeds the
greater of 10 per cent of the tax reguired to be shoﬁn on the
'return for the period' or S$1,0007” (“substantial-understatement
threshold”). § 35A{c). For each of the tax years at issue, an
understatement of taxes existed that exceeded the substantial-
understatement threshold. Therefore, the § 35A penalty appliles
unless one of the exceptions at § 35A(d) is met.

1. The exclusion at § 35(d) (i)

pPursuant to § 35A(d) (1), an undefstatement will be reduced by
any portion for which a taxpayer had substantial authority for the
position taken on a return. The appellant contended that he had
substantial' avthority - for his chaﬁge—of—domicile position,
according to the Commissioner’s regulations, “a return position is
supported by substantial authority only if the weight of the
authorities supporting the position is substantial in reiation to
the weight of authorities supporting the contrary position.” 83C

" CMR 62C.33.1(2).
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As discussed above, relevant case law does not support the
appellant’s positicon  that he was domiciled outside of

Massachusetts. The substantial weight of authority for a taxpayer

in the appellant’s position - happily married with a spouse

domiciled in Massachusetts, family ties predominantly located in
Massachusetts, and businesses in which he was actively engaged
that are also primarily located in Massachusetts - strongly
éupports a ruling that the appellant did not §£ange his domicile
during the tax years at lssue. The Board thus found and ruled that
the understatemept is not reduced pursuant to § 352 (d) (1) for any
of the tax years at 1lssue.

2. The exclusion at § 35(d) (ii)

pursuant to § 35A(d) {(1ii), the understatement will be reduced
by any portion attributable to any item if, on the return or in a
statement attached to the return, the taxpayer discloses the
relevant facts affecting the tax treatment of the item, and there
is & “reasonable basis” for the tax treatment of the item. While
alluded to in his petition, the appellant’s briefs filed with the
Board did not further address whether he had made an “édequate
disclosuré” of the relevant facts affecting his tax treatment, nor
did the ‘appellant enter any evidence specifically addressing
whether he had made this disclosure. 830 CMR 62C.323.1. The
appellant bears the burden of proving the facts that entitle him

+o relief from penalty. See Stella, Executor v. Commissioner of
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Revenue, Mass. ATB Findings of Fact -and Repoﬁts 2003-44, 54, The
Board reviewed the appellant’s returns, and none includes =z
statement, either within the return or as ah attached statement,
disclosing the underlying relevant facts affecting his tax
treatment for the tax years at issue. See 830 CMR 62C.33.1(2)
(defining “adeguate disclosure” to reguire “a written statement
setting cut the relevant facts including, without limitation, the
basis  for the challenge and identifying the tax law or public
written statement‘ being challenged”). The appellant did not
indicate to the Board any part of his returns that allegedly served
as a disclosure of the underlying facts affecting his tax
treatment. The Board found that merely filing a Form 1-NR/PY 1is
not adequately disclosing the underlying facts supporting that
claim for purposeé of § 35A(d) (ii). The Board thus found and ruled
that the appellant failed to meet his burden of proving his
entitlement to relief under § 35A(d) (ii).?

3. The good-faith defense at G.L. c. 62C, $35B

The appellant'further cited G.L. c. 62C, § 35B ({%“§ 35B7},
which precludes the imposition of the § 35A penalty on any portion

of an underpayment for which “reasonable cause” existed for the

i The Boara need reach the issue of whether thers was a “reasonable basis for
the tax treatment of the item” since the conjunctive language of the statute
reguires that the taxpayer first adecguately disclose “the relevant facts
affecting the tax treatment of the item.” § 35A(d){ii). However, given the
foregoing findings and rulings, it is clear that no reasonable basis exists for
the appellant’s tax treatment of the income at issue.
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taxpayer’s position and for which the taxpayer acted in “good
fzith” in taking his position. The appellant contended that,
because he relied upon_and followed the advice of his accountant
in attemptiﬁg to establish a domicile in Florida, he actedrin good
faith. The appellant testified that, in preparation for his attempt
to change his domicile, he met ﬁith his accountant and tax return
preparer, who referred the éppellant to a checklist of ministerial
steps and told him “tc make sure you do these thingé Soﬁthey
recognizé the fact that you meved there;”

Reascnable cause may be found when a taxpayer has relied on
tax advice given by a competent tax professional, provided,
however, that the taxpayer still exercises “ordinary business care
and prudence.” United States v. Boyle, 469 U.5. 241, 251 (1985);
Samia v. Commissioner of Revenue, Mass. ATB Findings of Fact and
Reports 1993—127, 1330 lAccording to his own testimony, the
appellant’s accountant merely referred the appellant to a website
with a checklist of ministerial steps to take in order to make his
case for a change of domicile. As stated previously, mere
ministerial acts do not carry sufficient weight when the
Massachusetts side of the “domicil ledger” has the stronger weight.
See, e.q., Swartz,.Mass. ATE Findings of‘Fact and Reports at Z010-.
263, 264. The Board thus found that the appellant’s reliance on
his accountant’s advice, consisting merely of ministerial steps

intended to make a show of domicile for the taxing authorities,
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~was not sufficient to establish that he acted in good faith, and -

that he therefore had reasonable cause for the positicn he tock on
his returns for the tax years at issue. Therefore, the Board found
and ruled that the good-faith defense at § 35B7did not apply to

abate the § 352 uhderpayment penalty.

Conclusion

The Beoard found and ruléa that the appellant failed tc meet
his burden of préving that he was démiciled outside of
Massachusetts during the tax years at issue. The Beard further
found and ruled that the appellant .failed to establish a.basis
upon which to wéive the underpayment penalty authorized under §§
35A and 35B.

Accordingly, the Board issued a decision for the appellee in
this appeal.

]
THE APPELLATE TAX BOARD

/

/&hbmas W. Ha?ﬁfﬁd, Jr'.} Chairman
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